

THE FIFTY-SEVENTH DAY

CARSON CITY (Monday), April 3, 2017

Senate called to order at 12:02 p.m.

President pro Tempore Denis presiding.

Roll called.

All present.

Prayer by the Chaplain, Reverend Jedidiah Maschke.

O' Lord, our God, You are a God of order and justice. You are pleased when people govern and are governed according to Your will. Guide all who are in authority. Keep them mindful of their sacred trust in public office and grant them wisdom for difficult tasks. Give them a sense of honesty and decency, a spirit of humility and service and a sensitivity to the needs of every citizen.

Protect our State from all harm and danger and shield us especially from those temptations which could corrupt our officials and cause our citizens to despise You.

Give to all who live in our State a grateful heart for the advantages we enjoy, ready obedience for our laws and a profound concern for the rights and privileges of every citizen. Help us to be lights in the world and salt of the Earth in our communities and a blessing to our neighbors.

In Jesus Name, we pray.

AMEN.

Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag was led by Eva Marie Blevins.

By previous order of the Senate, the reading of the Journal is dispensed with, and the President pro Tempore and Secretary are authorized to make the necessary corrections and additions.

REPORTS OF COMMITTEES

Mr. President pro Tempore:

Your Committee on Commerce, Labor and Energy, to which were referred Senate Bills Nos. 285, 412, has had the same under consideration, and begs leave to report the same back with the recommendation: Do pass.

Also, your Committee on Commerce, Labor and Energy, to which was referred Senate Bill No. 201, has had the same under consideration, and begs leave to report the same back with the recommendation: Amend, and do pass as amended.

KELVIN ATKINSON, *Chair*

Mr. President pro Tempore:

Your Committee on Education, to which was referred Senate Bill No. 303, has had the same under consideration, and begs leave to report the same back with the recommendation: Do pass.

Also, your Committee on Education, to which was referred Senate Bill No. 457, has had the same under consideration, and begs leave to report the same back with the recommendation: Do pass, and re-refer to the Committee on Finance.

MOISES DENIS, *Chair*

Mr. President pro Tempore:

Your Committee on Government Affairs, to which were referred Senate Bills Nos. 128, 160, has had the same under consideration, and begs leave to report the same back with the recommendation: Amend, and do pass as amended.

DAVID R. PARKS, *Chair*

Mr. President pro Tempore:

Your Committee on Health and Human Services, to which was referred Assembly Bill No. 99, has had the same under consideration, and begs leave to report the same back with the recommendation: Amend, and do pass as amended.

PAT SPEARMAN, *Chair*

Mr. President pro Tempore:

Your Committee on Judiciary, to which was referred Senate Bill No. 515, has had the same under consideration, and begs leave to report the same back with the recommendation: Re-refer to the Committee on Finance.

TICK SEGERBLOM, *Chair*

Mr. President pro Tempore:

Your Committee on Transportation, to which was referred Senate Bill No. 410, has had the same under consideration, and begs leave to report the same back with the recommendation: Do pass.

Also, your Committee on Transportation, to which was referred Senate Bill No. 141, has had the same under consideration, and begs leave to report the same back with the recommendation: Amend, and do pass as amended.

MARK A. MANENDO, *Chair*

MOTIONS, RESOLUTIONS AND NOTICES

Senator Atkinson moved that Senate Bill No. 201, just reported out of Committee, be placed on the Second Reading File.

Motion carried.

Senator Spearman moved that Assembly Bill No. 99, just reported out of Committee, be placed on the Second Reading File.

Motion carried.

Senator Woodhouse moved that Senate Bill No. 457, just reported out of Committee, be re-referred to the Committee on Finance.

Motion carried.

Senator Segerblom moved that Senate Bill No. 515, just reported out of Committee, be re-referred to the Committee on Finance.

Motion carried.

Senator Settelmeyer has approved the addition of Senator Spearman as a sponsor of Senate Bill No. 117.

SECOND READING AND AMENDMENT

Senate Bill No. 117.

Bill read second time and ordered to third reading.

Senate Bill No. 175.

Bill read second time and ordered to third reading.

Senate Joint Resolution No. 10.

Resolution read second time and ordered to third reading.

Senate Bill No. 201.

Bill read second time.

The following amendment was proposed by the Committee on Commerce, Labor and Energy:

Amendment No. 123.

SUMMARY—Enacts provisions relating to conversion therapies. (BDR 54-301)

AN ACT relating to ~~mental health care~~ health care professionals; prohibiting certain ~~practitioners~~ health care professionals from providing sexual orientation or gender identity conversion therapy to a minor; and providing other matters properly relating thereto.

Legislative Counsel's Digest:

Existing law regulates homeopathic physicians, advanced practitioners of homeopathy, homeopathic assistants and certain mental health professionals including psychiatrists, psychologists, licensed marriage and family therapists, certain registered nurses and certain licensed clinical or independent social workers. (Chapters 630, 630A, 632, 633 and 641-641B of NRS) This bill prohibits homeopathic physicians, advanced practitioners of homeopathy, homeopathic assistants and certain mental health professionals from providing sexual orientation or gender identity conversion therapy to a person who is under 18 years of age.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, REPRESENTED IN
SENATE AND ASSEMBLY, DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. Chapter 629 of NRS is hereby amended by adding thereto a new section to read as follows:

1. A psychotherapist shall not provide any ~~sexual orientation or gender identity~~ conversion therapy to a person who is under 18 years of age regardless of the willingness of the person or his or her parent or legal guardian to authorize such therapy.

2. Any violation of subsection 1 is a ground for disciplinary action by a state board that licenses a psychotherapist as defined in subsection 3.

3. As used in this section:

(a) ~~"Gender identity conversion" practice or other treatment for psychotherapy, counseling, hypnosis or therapy aimed at altering~~ Conversion therapy" means any practice or other treatment for that seeks to change the gender-related identity of a person so that such sexual orientation or gender identity appearance, expression or behavior of a person, regardless of the person's assigned sex at birth, is eliminated, reduced or redirected to the person's assigned sex at birth., including, without limitation, a practice or treatment that seeks to change behaviors or gender expressions or to eliminate or reduce sexual or romantic attractions or feelings toward persons of the same gender. The term does not include counseling that:

(1) Provides assistance to a person undergoing gender transition; or

(2) Provides acceptance, support and understanding of a person or facilitates a person's ability to cope, social support and identity exploration and development, including, without limitation, an intervention to prevent or address unlawful conduct or unsafe sexual practices that is neutral as to the

sexual-orientation of the person receiving the intervention and does not seek to change the sexual orientation or gender identity of the person receiving the intervention.

(b) "Psychotherapist" means:

(1) A psychiatrist licensed to practice medicine in this State pursuant to chapter 630 ; ~~and certified by the American Board of Psychiatry and Neurology, Inc.;~~

(2) A homeopathic physician, advanced practitioner of homeopathy or homeopathic assistant licensed or certified pursuant to chapter 630A or NRS;

(3) A psychiatrist licensed to practice medicine in this State pursuant to chapter 633 ; ~~and certified by the American Osteopathic Board of Neurology and Psychiatry of the American Osteopathic Association;~~

~~(3)~~ (4) A psychologist licensed to practice in this State pursuant to chapter 641 of NRS;

~~(4)~~ (5) A social worker ~~holding a master's degree in social work and~~ licensed in this State as an independent social worker or a clinical social worker pursuant to chapter 641B of NRS;

~~(5)~~ (6) A registered nurse holding a master's degree in the field of psychiatric nursing and licensed to practice professional nursing in this State pursuant to chapter 632 of NRS; ~~for~~

~~(6)~~ (7) A marriage and family therapist or clinical professional counselor licensed in this State pursuant to chapter 641A of NRS ~~for~~

~~(c) "Sexual orientation conversion therapy" means any psychotherapy, counseling, hypnosis or other treatment or therapy aimed at altering the sexual or romantic attraction, desire or conduct of a person toward persons of the same sex so that such sexual or romantic attraction, desire or conduct is eliminated, reduced or redirected toward persons of the opposite sex. The term does not include treatment aimed at altering the sexual or romantic attraction, desire or conduct of a person towards children or persons related by consanguinity.; or~~

(8) A person who provides counseling services as part of his or her training for any of the professions listed in subparagraphs (1) to (7), inclusive.

Sec. 2. This act becomes effective:

1. Upon passage and approval for the purpose of adopting any regulations and performing any other preparatory administrative tasks necessary to carry out the provisions of this act; and

2. On January 1, 2018, for all other purposes.

Senator Atkinson moved the adoption of the amendment.

Remarks by Senator Atkinson.

Amendment No. 123 makes two changes to Senate Bill No. 201. The amendment creates a single definition for conversion therapy and includes licensed homeopathic physicians and social workers under the definition of a psychotherapist and a person who provides counseling services as part of his or her training for any of the professions listed in subparagraphs (1) to (7) of section 1(3)(b).

Amendment adopted.

Bill ordered reprinted, engrossed and to third reading.

Assembly Bill No. 99.

Bill read second time.

The following amendment was proposed by the Committee on Health and Human Services:

Amendment No. 86.

SUMMARY—Revises provisions relating to services for children. (BDR 38-144)

AN ACT relating to children; requiring certain institutions and agencies to treat a child as having the gender with which the child identifies; requiring certain persons to receive training on working with lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning children; requiring the Division of Child and Family Services of the Department of Health and Human Services to establish protocols to follow or factors to consider before placing a child in certain placements; requiring the Division to establish a process for filing and resolving certain grievances; revising the manner in which a foster child is notified of his or her rights; requiring certain facilities to which a juvenile court commits a child to comply with certain federal law; and providing other matters properly relating thereto.

Legislative Counsel's Digest:

Existing law authorizes a court to place a child in a public or private institution or agency authorized to care for children. (NRS 62E.110) Such institutions include juvenile detention facilities, foster homes, child care facilities and mental health facilities. (NRS 62B.200, 63.400, 432A.1757, 432B.550, 433B.310) Existing law also provides for the licensure and regulation of foster care agencies, which are business entities that recruit and enter into contracts with foster homes to assist an agency which provides child welfare services and juvenile courts in the placement of children in foster homes. (NRS 424.0135, 424.093-424.270) Additionally, existing law designates as the agency which provides child welfare services: (1) in a county whose population is less than 100,000, the Division of Child and Family Services of the Department of Health and Human Services; and (2) in a county whose population is 100,000 or more, the agency of the county which provides or arranges for necessary child welfare services. (NRS 432B.030)

Sections 3, 4, 23, 28, 29, 37, 41 and 46 of this bill require each of those institutions and agencies to treat a child for whom the institution or agency is responsible in accordance with the child's gender identity or expression.

Existing law requires an employee of such an institution or agency to receive certain training. (NRS 62B.250, 63.190, 424.0365, 424.135, 432A.177, 432B.195, 433B.175) Sections 4, 6, 10, 24, 29, 31, 38, 43 and 47 of this bill require that training to: (1) be approved by the licensing authority or the Division; and (2) include instruction on working with lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning children.

Sections 23, 37, 41 and 46 require the Division to prescribe regulations that a court must consider before placing a child in a child care facility, a facility for the detention of children or a mental health or treatment facility ~~and~~ protocols that such a facility must follow when placing a child within the facility. Section 28 of this bill requires the Division to adopt protocols ~~(that)~~ to ensure that each child in the custody of an agency which provides child welfare services is placed in a manner that is appropriate for the gender identity or expression of the child. Section 28 also requires an agency which provides child welfare services ~~(must)~~ to: (1) follow such protocols when placing a child in an out-of-home placement ~~and~~ ; and (2) ensure that an out-of-home placement follows such protocols when placing a child within the placement. Sections 3, 4 and 29 require a foster home, foster care agency or facility into which a child alleged to be a child with emotional disturbance who is in the custody of an agency which provides child welfare services is committed to follow such protocols.

Section 14 of this bill requires the Division to establish a procedure for filing and resolving a grievance concerning a placement, a foster care agency, an agency which provides child welfare services or an agency or institution to which a child is committed by a court.

Existing law requires a provider of foster care to provide a foster child with a written copy of his or her rights. (NRS 432.540) Section 20 of this bill requires a provider of foster care to provide a foster child with a written summary of those rights.

The Prison Rape Elimination Act provides for the collection of data, the award of grants and the adoption of standards to prevent rape in correctional institutions. (42 U.S.C. §§ 15601 et seq.) Sections 37 and 41 require certain facilities to which a juvenile court commits a child to adhere to the Prison Rape Elimination Act and any standards adopted pursuant to that federal law.

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEVADA, REPRESENTED IN
SENATE AND ASSEMBLY, DO ENACT AS FOLLOWS:

Section 1. Chapter 424 of NRS is hereby amended by adding thereto the provisions set forth as sections 2, 2.5, 3 and 4 of this act.

Sec. 2. (Deleted by amendment.)

Sec. 2.5. *"Gender identity or expression" means a gender-related identity, appearance, expression or behavior of a person, regardless of the person's assigned sex at birth.*

Sec. 3. A provider of foster care shall ~~ensure~~ :

1. Ensure that each foster child who is placed in the foster home is treated in all respects in accordance with the child's gender identity or expression ~~and~~ ; and

2. Follow the protocols prescribed in the regulations adopted pursuant to section 28 of this act when placing a foster child within the foster home.

Sec. 4. 1. *The holder of a license to operate a foster care agency shall ensure that each member of the staff of the foster care agency who comes into direct contact with a child placed by the foster care agency receives, within*

90 days after employment and annually thereafter, training that has been approved by the licensing authority concerning working with lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning children.

2. A foster care agency shall ~~ensure~~:

(a) Ensure that each child placed by the foster care agency is treated in all respects in accordance with the child's gender identity or expression ~~+~~; and

(b) Follow the protocols prescribed in the regulations adopted pursuant to section 28 of this act when assisting an agency which provides child welfare services or a juvenile court in placing a child in foster care.

Sec. 5. NRS 424.010 is hereby amended to read as follows:

424.010 As used in this chapter, unless the context otherwise requires, the words and terms defined in NRS 424.011 to 424.018, inclusive, and section 2.5 of this act have the meanings ascribed to them in those sections.

Sec. 6. NRS 424.0365 is hereby amended to read as follows:

424.0365 1. A licensee that operates a family foster home, a specialized foster home, an independent living foster home or a group foster home shall ensure that each employee who comes into direct contact with children in the home receives training within ~~{30}~~ 90 days after employment and annually thereafter. Such training must *be approved by the licensing authority and* include, without limitation, instruction concerning:

(a) Controlling the behavior of children;

(b) Policies and procedures concerning the use of force and restraint on children;

(c) The rights of children in the home;

(d) Suicide awareness and prevention;

(e) The administration of medication to children;

(f) Applicable state and federal constitutional and statutory rights of children in the home;

(g) Policies and procedures concerning other matters affecting the health, welfare, safety and civil and other rights of children in the home; ~~{and}~~

(h) *Working with lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning children; and*

(i) Such other matters as required by the licensing authority or pursuant to regulations of the Division.

2. The Division shall adopt regulations necessary to carry out the provisions of this section.

Sec. 7. NRS 424.090 is hereby amended to read as follows:

424.090 1. The provisions of NRS 424.020 to 424.090, inclusive, and section 3 of this act do not apply to homes in which:

~~{1-}~~ (a) Care is provided only for a neighbor's or friend's child on an irregular or occasional basis for a brief period, not to exceed 90 days.

~~{2-}~~ (b) Care is provided by the legal guardian.

~~{3-}~~ (c) Care is provided for an exchange student.

~~{4-}~~ (d) Care is provided to enable a child to take advantage of educational facilities that are not available in his or her home community.

~~{5-}~~ (e) Any child or children are received, cared for and maintained pending completion of proceedings for adoption of such child or children, except as otherwise provided in regulations adopted by the Division.

~~{6-}~~ (f) Except as otherwise provided in regulations adopted by the Division, care is voluntarily provided to a minor child who is related to the caregiver by blood, adoption or marriage.

~~{7-}~~ (g) Care is provided to a minor child who is in the custody of an agency which provides child welfare services pursuant to chapter 432B of NRS or a juvenile court pursuant to title 5 of NRS if:

~~{(a)}~~ (1) The caregiver is related to the child within the fifth degree of consanguinity ~~{-}~~ or a fictive kin; and

~~{(b)}~~ (2) The caregiver is not licensed pursuant to the provisions of NRS 424.020 to 424.090, inclusive ~~{-}~~, and section 3 of this act.

2. As used in this section, "fictive kin" means a person who is not related by blood to a child but has a significant emotional and positive relationship with the child.

Sec. 8. NRS 424.095 is hereby amended to read as follows:

424.095 1. An application for a license to operate a foster care agency must be in a form prescribed by the Division and submitted to the appropriate licensing authority. Such a license is effective for 2 years after the date of its issuance and may be renewed upon expiration.

2. An applicant must provide reasonable and satisfactory assurance to the licensing authority that the applicant will conform to the provisions of NRS 424.093 to 424.270, inclusive, and section 4 of this act, and the regulations adopted by the Division pursuant thereto.

3. Upon application for renewal, the licensing authority may renew a license if the licensing authority determines that the licensee conforms to the provisions of NRS 424.093 to 424.270, inclusive, and section 4 of this act, and the regulations adopted by the Division pursuant thereto.

Sec. 9. NRS 424.096 is hereby amended to read as follows:

424.096 1. After notice and hearing, a licensing authority may:

(a) Deny an application for a license to operate a foster care agency if the licensing authority determines that the applicant does not comply with the provisions of NRS 424.093 to 424.270, inclusive, and section 4 of this act, and the regulations adopted by the Division pursuant thereto.

(b) Upon a finding of deficiency, require a foster care agency to prepare a plan of corrective action and, within 90 days or a shorter period prescribed by the licensing authority require the foster care agency to complete the plan of corrective action.

(c) Refuse to renew a license or may revoke a license if the licensing authority finds that the foster care agency has refused or failed to meet any of the established standards or has violated any of the regulations adopted by the Division pursuant to NRS 424.093.

2. A notice of the time and place of the hearing must be mailed to the last known address of the applicant or licensee at least 15 days before the date fixed for the hearing.

3. When an order of a licensing authority is appealed to the district court, the trial may be de novo.

Sec. 10. NRS 424.135 is hereby amended to read as follows:

424.135 1. The foster care agency shall develop and carry out a written plan for the orientation, training, supervision and evaluation of members of the staff.

2. The orientation must include, without limitation, information on the policies and procedures of the foster care agency, goals for the programs and services of the foster care agency, the responsibilities of members of the staff and the provisions of this chapter and the regulations adopted pursuant thereto that relate to licensing. The training must include, without limitation, any training required by the licensing authority ~~[-]~~ and the training required by section 4 of this act. Each member of the staff must be evaluated at least once each year.

3. The foster care agency shall maintain comprehensive written policies and procedures for the personnel, services and programs of the foster care agency and make the policies and procedures readily available to the members of the staff and to the licensing authority.

4. The foster care agency shall maintain comprehensive records for personnel that, upon request, must be made available to the licensing authority.

Sec. 11. Chapter 432 of NRS is hereby amended by adding thereto the provisions set forth as sections 12, 13 and 14 of this act.

Sec. 12. (Deleted by amendment.)

Sec. 13. (Deleted by amendment.)

Sec. 14. 1. *The Division shall prescribe by regulation:*

(a) A procedure by which a child or, if applicable, the parent or guardian of a child, may file a grievance concerning a foster care agency, an agency which provides child welfare services, an out-of-home placement, a psychiatric hospital or facility in which a child who is in the custody of an agency which provides child welfare services is placed, a division facility or any public or private institution or agency to which a child is committed by a court; and

(b) A process for resolving those grievances, which must provide for persons who are not directly responsible for the care of the child who filed or is the subject of the grievance to evaluate the grievance and, if such a person determines that the grievance is not frivolous, investigate the grievance and impose remedies. Such remedies must include, without limitation, requiring the agency or placement, facility or institution to make changes to address the grievance, or notifying a regulatory or law enforcement agency with jurisdiction over the agency, placement, facility or institution.

2. *An out-of-home placement with which a child in the custody of the agency which provides child welfare services is placed shall:*

(a) Inform the child of the process for filing a grievance pursuant to subsection 1;

(b) Provide the child with a summary of that process; and

(c) Provide an additional written copy of the summary upon request.

3. As used in this section:

(a) "Division facility" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 433B.070.

(b) "Foster care agency" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 424.0135.

(c) "Out-of-home placement" means a foster home or child care facility, as defined in NRS 432A.024, which has physical custody of a child pursuant to the order of a court.

Sec. 15. NRS 432.0125 is hereby amended to read as follows:

432.0125 1. The Administrator shall appoint, with the approval of the Director, a chief of each of the bureaus in the Division. The chiefs are designated respectively as:

(a) The Superintendent of the Nevada Youth Training Center;

(b) The Superintendent of the Caliente Youth Center; and

(c) The Chief of the Youth Parole Bureau.

2. The Administrator is responsible for the administration, through the Division, of the provisions of chapters 63 and 424 of NRS, NRS 127.220 to 127.310, inclusive, 432.010 to 432.085, inclusive, and 433B.010 to 433B.340, inclusive, ~~and sections 45 and section 46 of this act~~, and all other provisions of law relating to the functions of the Division, but is not responsible for the professional activities of the components of the Division except as specifically provided by law.

Sec. 16. NRS 432.500 is hereby amended to read as follows:

432.500 As used in NRS 432.500 to 432.550, inclusive, ~~and sections 12, 13 and section 14 of this act~~, unless the context otherwise requires, the words and terms defined in NRS 432.505, 432.510 and 432.515 ~~and sections 12 and 13 of this act~~ have the meanings ascribed to them in those sections.

Sec. 17. (Deleted by amendment.)

Sec. 18. (Deleted by amendment.)

Sec. 19. (Deleted by amendment.)

Sec. 20. NRS 432.540 is hereby amended to read as follows:

432.540 1. A provider of foster care that places a child in a foster home shall:

(a) Inform the child of his or her rights set forth in NRS 432.525, 432.530 and 432.535;

(b) Provide the child with a written ~~copy~~ summary of those rights; and

(c) Provide an additional written copy of ~~those rights~~ the summary to the child upon request.

2. A group foster home shall post a written copy of the ~~rights set forth in NRS 432.525, 432.530 and 432.535~~ summary described in subsection 1 and the summary of the process for filing a grievance described in section 14 of this act in a conspicuous place inside the group foster home.

Sec. 21. (Deleted by amendment.)

Sec. 22. NRS 432.550 is hereby amended to read as follows:

432.550 If a child believes that his or her rights set forth in NRS 432.525, 432.530 and 432.535 have been violated, the child may raise and redress a grievance with, without limitation:

1. A provider of foster care;
2. An employee of a foster home;
3. An agency which provides child welfare services to the child, and any employee thereof;
4. A juvenile court with jurisdiction over the child;
5. A guardian ad litem for the child; ~~for~~
6. An attorney for the child ~~for~~; or
7. *The Division, using the process established pursuant to section 14 of this act.*

Sec. 23. Chapter 432A of NRS is hereby amended by adding thereto a new section to read as follows:

1. *A child care facility which occasionally or regularly has physical custody of children pursuant to the order of a court, including, without limitation, an emergency shelter, shall treat each child who is placed in the facility in all respects in accordance with the child's gender identity or expression.*

2. *The Division of Child and Family Services of the Department shall adopt regulations establishing factors for a court to consider before placing a child in the custody of a child care facility and protocols for a child care facility to follow when placing a child within the facility that ensure that each child who is so placed is placed in a manner that is appropriate for the gender identity or expression of the child. Such regulations must be adopted in consultation with:*

(a) *Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning children who are currently residing in foster homes, facilities for the detention of children, child care facilities and mental health facilities or who have resided in such settings;*

(b) *Representatives of each agency which provides child welfare services in this State;*

(c) *Representatives of state and local facilities for the detention of children;*

(d) *Representatives of lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning persons;*

(e) *Attorneys, including, without limitation, attorneys who regularly represent children in child welfare or criminal proceedings;*

(f) *Representatives of juvenile courts and family courts;*

(g) *Advocates of children; and*

(h) *Any other person deemed appropriate by the Division of Child and Family Services of the Department.*

3. *A court shall consider the factors prescribed in the regulations adopted pursuant to subsection 2 before placing a child in a child care facility.*

4. *A child care facility, including, without limitation, an emergency shelter, which has physical custody of a child pursuant to the order of a court*

shall follow the protocols prescribed in the regulations adopted pursuant to subsection 2 when placing the child within the facility.

5. As used in this section:

(a) "Agency which provides child welfare services" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 432B.030.

(b) "Foster home" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 424.014.

(c) "Gender identity or expression" has the meaning ascribed to it in section 2.5 of this act.

Sec. 24. NRS 432A.177 is hereby amended to read as follows:

432A.177 1. A licensee that operates a child care facility which occasionally or regularly has physical custody of children pursuant to the order of a court, including, without limitation, an emergency shelter, shall ensure that each employee who comes into direct contact with children in the facility receives training within ~~{30}~~ 90 days after employment and annually thereafter. Such training must *be approved by the licensing authority and* include, without limitation, instruction concerning:

(a) Controlling the behavior of children;

(b) Policies and procedures concerning the use of force and restraint on children;

(c) The rights of children in the facility;

(d) Suicide awareness and prevention;

(e) The administration of medication to children;

(f) Applicable state and federal constitutional and statutory rights of children in the facility;

(g) Policies and procedures concerning other matters affecting the health, welfare, safety and civil and other rights of children in the facility; ~~{and}~~

(h) *Working with lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning children; and*

(i) Such other matters as required by the Board.

2. The Board shall adopt regulations necessary to carry out the provisions of this section.

Sec. 25. NRS 432A.220 is hereby amended to read as follows:

432A.220 Any person who operates a child care facility without a license issued pursuant to NRS 432A.131 to 432A.220, inclusive, *and section 23 of this act* is guilty of a misdemeanor.

Sec. 26. Chapter 432B of NRS is hereby amended by adding thereto the provisions set forth as sections 27, 28 and 29 of this act.

Sec. 27. "Gender identity or expression" has the meaning ascribed to it in section 2.5 of this act.

Sec. 28. 1. *An agency which provides child welfare services shall treat each child to whom the agency provides services in all respects in accordance with the child's gender identity or expression.*

2. *The Division of Child and Family Services shall adopt regulations establishing protocols to ensure that each child in the custody of an agency*

which provides child welfare services is placed in a manner that is appropriate for the gender identity or expression of the child. Such regulations must be adopted in consultation with:

- (a) Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning children who are currently residing in foster homes, facilities for the detention of children, child care facilities, mental health facilities or who have resided in such settings;
- (b) Representatives of each agency which provides child welfare services in this State;
- (c) Representatives of state and local facilities for the detention of children;
- (d) Representatives of lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning persons;
- (e) Attorneys, including, without limitation, attorneys who regularly represent children in child welfare or criminal proceedings;
- (f) Representatives of juvenile courts and family courts;
- (g) Advocates of children; and
- (h) Any other person deemed appropriate by the Division of Child and Family Services.

3. An agency which provides child welfare services shall ~~follow~~ :

- (a) Follow the protocols prescribed in the regulations adopted pursuant to subsection 2 before placing a child in an out-of-home placement ~~and~~; and
- (b) Ensure that an out-of-home placement into which a child is placed follows the protocols prescribed in the regulations adopted pursuant to subsection 2 when placing the child within the facility.

4. As used in this section:

- (a) "Child care facility" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 432A.024.
- (b) "Foster home" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 424.014.
- (c) "Out-of-home placement" has the meaning ascribed to it in section 14 of this act.

Sec. 29. A facility which provides care, treatment or training to a child who is in the custody of an agency which provides child welfare services and who is admitted to the facility pursuant to NRS 432B.6076 shall:

1. Ensure that each employee of the facility who comes into direct contact with children at the facility receives, within 90 days after employment and annually thereafter, training that has been approved by the Division of Child and Family Services concerning working with lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning children; ~~and~~

2. Ensure that each child who is placed in the facility is treated in all respects in accordance with the child's gender identity or expression ~~and~~; and

3. Follow the protocols prescribed in the regulations adopted pursuant to section 28 of this act when placing the child within the facility.

Sec. 30. NRS 432B.010 is hereby amended to read as follows:

432B.010 As used in this chapter, unless the context otherwise requires, the words and terms defined in NRS 432B.020 to 432B.110, inclusive, and section 27 of this act have the meanings ascribed to them in those sections.

Sec. 31. NRS 432B.195 is hereby amended to read as follows:

432B.195 1. An agency which provides child welfare services shall provide training to each person who is employed by the agency and who provides child welfare services. Such training must include, without limitation, instruction concerning the applicable state and federal constitutional and statutory rights of a person who is responsible for a child's welfare and who is:

- (a) The subject of an investigation of alleged abuse or neglect of a child; or
- (b) A party to a proceeding concerning the alleged abuse or neglect of a child pursuant to NRS 432B.410 to 432B.590, inclusive.

2. *In addition to the training provided pursuant to subsection 1, an agency which provides child welfare services shall ensure that each employee of the agency who comes into direct contact with children receives, within 90 days after employment and annually thereafter, training concerning working with lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning children.*

3. Nothing in this section shall be construed as requiring or authorizing a person who is employed by an agency which provides child welfare services to offer legal advice, legal assistance or legal interpretation of state or federal statutes or laws.

Sec. 32. NRS 432B.607 is hereby amended to read as follows:

432B.607 As used in NRS 432B.607 to 432B.6085, inclusive, *and section 29 of this act*, unless the context otherwise requires, the words and terms defined in NRS 432B.6071 to 432B.6074, inclusive, have the meanings ascribed to them in those sections.

Sec. 33. (Deleted by amendment.)

Sec. 34. NRS 432B.6085 is hereby amended to read as follows:

432B.6085 1. Nothing in this chapter purports to deprive any person of any legal rights without due process of law.

2. Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, the provisions of NRS 432B.607 to 432B.6085, inclusive, *and section 29 of this act*, 433.456 to 433.543, inclusive, and 433.545 to 433.551, inclusive, and chapters 433A and 433B of NRS and NRS 435.530 to 435.635, inclusive, apply to all children who are in the custody of an agency which provides child welfare services.

Sec. 35. Chapter 62B of NRS is hereby amended by adding thereto the provisions set forth as sections 36 and 37 of this act.

Sec. 36. (Deleted by amendment.)

Sec. 37. 1. *A public or private institution or agency to which a juvenile court commits a child, including, without limitation, a facility for the detention of children, shall ~~treat~~ :*

(a) Treat each child that a juvenile court commits to the institution or agency in all respects in accordance with the child's gender identity or expression and the regulations adopted by the Division of Child and Family Services pursuant to subsection 2 ~~of~~ ; and

(b) To the extent applicable, comply with the Prison Rape Elimination Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 15605 et seq., and all standards adopted pursuant thereto.

2. *The Division of Child and Family Services shall adopt regulations establishing factors for a juvenile court to consider before committing a child to a public or private institution or agency, including, without limitation, a facility for the detention of children, and protocols for such an institution or agency to follow when placing a child within the institution or agency that ensure that each child who is so committed is placed in a manner that is appropriate for the gender identity or expression of the child. Such regulations must be adopted in consultation with:*

(a) *Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning children who are currently residing in foster homes, facilities for the detention of children, child care facilities and mental health facilities or who have resided in such settings;*

(b) *Representatives of each agency which provides child welfare services in this State;*

(c) *Representatives of state and local facilities for the detention of children;*

(d) *Representatives of lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning persons;*

(e) *Attorneys, including, without limitation, attorneys who regularly represent children in child welfare or criminal proceedings;*

(f) *Representatives of juvenile courts and family courts;*

(g) *Advocates of children; and*

(h) *Any other person deemed appropriate by the Division of Child and Family Services.*

3. *A juvenile court shall consider the factors prescribed in the regulations adopted pursuant to subsection 2 before committing a child to a public or private institution or agency, including, without limitation, a facility for the detention of children.*

4. *A public or private institution or agency to which a juvenile court commits a child, including, without limitation, a facility for the detention of children, shall follow the protocols prescribed in the regulations adopted pursuant to subsection 2 when placing a child within the facility.*

5. *As used in this section:*

(a) *"Agency which provides child welfare services" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 432B.030.*

(b) *"Child care facility" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 432A.024.*

(c) *"Foster home" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 424.014.*

(d) *"Gender identity or expression" has the meaning ascribed to it in section 2.5 of this act.*

Sec. 38. NRS 62B.250 is hereby amended to read as follows:

62B.250 1. A public or private institution or agency to which a juvenile court commits a child, including, without limitation, a facility for the detention of children, shall ensure that each employee who comes into direct contact with children who are in custody receives training within ~~30~~ 90 days after employment and annually thereafter. Such training must *be approved by the Division of Child and Family Services and* include, without limitation, instruction concerning:

- (a) Controlling the behavior of children;
- (b) Policies and procedures concerning the use of force and restraint on children;
- (c) The rights of children in the institution or agency;
- (d) Suicide awareness and prevention;
- (e) The administration of medication to children;
- (f) Applicable state and federal constitutional and statutory rights of children in the institution or agency;
- (g) Policies and procedures concerning other matters affecting the health, welfare, safety and civil and other rights of children in the institution or agency; ~~and~~
- (h) *Working with gay, lesbian, bisexual, transgender and questioning children; and*
- (i) Such other matters as required by the Division of Child and Family Services.

2. The Division of Child and Family Services shall adopt regulations necessary to carry out the provisions of this section.

Sec. 39. Chapter 63 of NRS is hereby amended by adding thereto the provisions set forth as sections 40 and 41 of this act.

Sec. 40. (Deleted by amendment.)

Sec. 41. 1. A facility shall ~~treat~~ :

(a) Treat each child in the facility in all respects in accordance with the child's gender identity or expression and the regulations adopted by the Division of Child and Family Services pursuant to subsection 2 ~~1~~; and

(b) Comply with the Prison Rape Elimination Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 15605 et seq., and all standards adopted pursuant thereto.

2. *The Division of Child and Family Services shall adopt regulations establishing factors for a juvenile court to consider before committing a child to a facility and protocols for a facility to follow when placing a child within the facility that ensure that each child who is so committed is placed in a manner that is appropriate for the gender identity or expression of the child. Such regulations must be adopted in consultation with:*

- (a) *Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning children who are currently residing in foster homes, facilities for the detention of children, child care facilities and mental health facilities or who have resided in such settings;*
- (b) *Representatives of each agency which provides child welfare services in this State;*
- (c) *Representatives of state and local facilities for the detention of children;*
- (d) *Representatives of lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning persons;*
- (e) *Attorneys, including, without limitation, attorneys who regularly represent children in child welfare or criminal proceedings;*
- (f) *Representatives of juvenile courts and family courts;*
- (g) *Advocates of children; and*

(h) Any other person deemed appropriate by the Division of Child and Family Services.

3. A juvenile court shall consider the factors prescribed in the regulations adopted pursuant to subsection 2 before committing a child to a facility.

4. A facility shall follow the protocols prescribed in the regulations adopted pursuant to subsection 2 when placing a child within the facility.

5. As used in this section:

(a) "Agency which provides child welfare services" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 432B.030.

(b) "Child care facility" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 432A.024.

(c) "Foster home" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 424.014.

(d) "Gender identity or expression" has the meaning ascribed to it in section 2.5 of this act.

Sec. 42. NRS 63.100 is hereby amended to read as follows:

63.100 1. For each facility, the position of superintendent of the facility is hereby created.

2. The superintendent of a facility shall administer the provisions of NRS 63.010 to 63.620, inclusive, ~~and sections 40 and~~ section 41 of this act, 63.720, 63.770 and 63.790 subject to administrative supervision by the Administrator of the Division of Child and Family Services.

Sec. 43. NRS 63.190 is hereby amended to read as follows:

63.190 1. The superintendent of a facility shall ensure that each employee who comes into direct contact with children in the facility receives training within ~~30~~ 90 days after employment and annually thereafter. Such training must be approved by the Division of Child and Family Services and include, without limitation, instruction concerning:

(a) Controlling the behavior of children;

(b) Policies and procedures concerning the use of force and restraint on children;

(c) The rights of children in the facility;

(d) Suicide awareness and prevention;

(e) The administration of medication to children;

(f) Applicable state and federal constitutional and statutory rights of children in the home;

(g) Policies and procedures concerning other matters affecting the health, welfare, safety and civil and other rights of children in the facility; ~~and~~

(h) Working with gay, lesbian, bisexual, transgender and questioning children; and

(i) Such other matters as required by the Administrator of the Division of Child and Family Services.

2. The Administrator of the Division of Child and Family Services shall provide direction to the superintendent of each facility concerning the manner in which to carry out the provisions of this section.

Sec. 44. Chapter 433B of NRS is hereby amended by adding thereto the provisions set forth as sections 45 and 46 of this act.

Sec. 45. (Deleted by amendment.)

Sec. 46. 1. *A treatment facility and any other division facility into which a child may be committed by a court order shall treat each child committed to the facility by a court order in all respects in accordance with the child's gender identity or expression and the regulations adopted by the Division of Child and Family Services pursuant to subsection 2.*

2. *The Division of Child and Family Services of the Department shall adopt regulations establishing factors for a court to consider before committing a child to a treatment facility or other division facility and protocols for such a facility to follow when placing a child within the facility to ensure that each child who is so committed is placed in a manner that is appropriate for the gender identity or expression of the child. Such regulations must be adopted in consultation with:*

(a) *Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning children who are currently residing in foster homes, facilities for the detention of children, child care facilities and mental health facilities or who have resided in such settings;*

(b) *Representatives of each agency which provides child welfare services in this State;*

(c) *Representatives of state and local facilities for the detention of children;*

(d) *Representatives of lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and questioning persons;*

(e) *Attorneys, including, without limitation, attorneys who regularly represent children in child welfare or criminal proceedings;*

(f) *Representatives of juvenile courts and family courts;*

(g) *Advocates of children; and*

(h) *Any other person deemed appropriate by the Division.*

3. *A court shall consider the factors prescribed in the regulations adopted pursuant to subsection 2 before committing a child to a treatment facility or other division facility.*

4. *A treatment facility or other division facility to which a child is committed by a court order shall follow the protocols prescribed in the regulations adopted pursuant to subsection 2 when placing the child within the facility.*

5. *As used in this section:*

(a) *"Agency which provides child welfare services" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 432B.030.*

(b) *"Child care facility" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 432A.024.*

(c) *"Foster home" has the meaning ascribed to it in NRS 424.014.*

(d) *"Gender identity or expression" has the meaning ascribed to it in section 2.5 of this act.*

Sec. 47. NRS 433B.175 is hereby amended to read as follows:

433B.175 1. The Administrator shall ensure that each employee who comes into direct contact with children at any treatment facility and any other

division facility into which a child may be committed by a court order receives training within ~~{30}~~ 90 days after employment and annually thereafter. Such training must *be approved by the Division and* include, without limitation, instruction concerning:

- (a) Controlling the behavior of children;
- (b) Policies and procedures concerning the use of force and restraint on children;
- (c) The rights of children in the facility;
- (d) Suicide awareness and prevention;
- (e) The administration of medication to children;
- (f) Applicable state and federal constitutional and statutory rights of children in the facility;
- (g) Policies and procedures concerning other matters affecting the health, welfare, safety and civil and other rights of children in the facility; ~~{and}~~
- (h) *Working with gay, lesbian, bisexual, transgender and questioning children; and*
- (i) Such other matters as required by the Board.

2. The Division shall adopt regulations necessary to carry out the provisions of this section.

Sec. 48. This act becomes effective:

1. Upon passage and approval for the purpose of adopting any regulations and performing any other preparatory administrative tasks that are necessary to carry out the provisions of this act; and

2. On October 1, 2017, for all other purposes.

Senator Spearman moved the adoption of the amendment.

Remarks by Senator Spearman.

Amendment No. 86 to Assembly Bill No. 99 requires certain courts, facilities, and agencies to follow certain protocols established in regulation when placing a child in or within a facility to ensure that the child is placed in a manner that is appropriate for the gender identity or expression of the child.

It also requires certain facilities to which a juvenile court commits a child to comply with certain federal laws.

In addition, the amendment adds my name to the list of joint sponsors.

Amendment adopted.

Bill ordered reprinted, re-engrossed and to third reading.

GENERAL FILE AND THIRD READING

Senate Bill No. 13.

Bill read third time.

Remarks by Senator Gustavson.

Senate Bill No. 13 abolishes the Advisory Board on Motorcycle Safety.

Roll call on Senate Bill No. 13:

YEAS—21.

NAYS—None.

Senate Bill No. 13 having received a constitutional majority, Mr. President pro Tempore declared it passed.

Bill ordered transmitted to Assembly.

Senate Bill No. 15.

Bill read third time.

Remarks by Senator Atkinson.

Senate Bill No. 15 clarifies the difference between "duplicate license plates" and "replacement license plates" by defining "replacement number plate" to mean a license plate that previously was issued but has been expired for a continuous period of more than 18 months. The bill also provides that certain plates which are substantially in the same color and form as plates commonly referred to as "old-style" blue license plates, which were manufactured between January 1, 1982, and June 30, 2015, are not subject to the requirement that the Department of Motor Vehicles reissue the plates every eight years. The measure further provides that the 125th and 150th commemorative license plates also are exempt from that reissuance requirement.

Finally, the bill revises the citation for a "hunter's permit" to conform to the newly amended version of the International Registration Plan.

License plates that are substantially in the same color and form as plates commonly referred to as "old-style" blue license plates, but produced using modern conventional methods, that were manufactured after June 30, 2015, are commonly referred to as "new style" blue plates, and these plates remain subject to the requirement that the Department of Motor Vehicles reissue the plates every eight years.

Roll call on Senate Bill No. 15:

YEAS—21.

NAYS—None.

Senate Bill No. 15 having received a constitutional majority, Mr. President pro Tempore declared it passed.

Bill ordered transmitted to Assembly.

Senate Joint Resolution No. 8.

Resolution read third time.

Remarks by Senator Spearman.

Senate Joint Resolution No. 8 urges the United States Congress not to repeal the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act or its most important provisions.

Roll call on Senate Joint Resolution No. 8:

YEAS—12.

NAYS—Gansert, Goicoechea, Gustavson, Hammond, Hardy, Harris, Kieckhefer, Roberson, Settlemeyer—9.

Senate Joint Resolution No. 8 having received a constitutional majority, Mr. President pro Tempore declared it passed.

Resolution ordered transmitted to Assembly.

GUESTS EXTENDED PRIVILEGE OF SENATE FLOOR

On request of Senator Atkinson, the privilege of the floor of the Senate Chamber for this day was extended to Ashley Ortega and Jose Rivera.

On request of Senator Cancela, the privilege of the floor of the Senate Chamber for this day was extended to Emily Ross, Victoria Ruiz-Marin.

On request of Senator Cannizzaro, the privilege of the floor of the Senate Chamber for this day was extended to Peyton Barsel, Hector Cordova, Scott Gorgon, Kelly Knight and Laura Llamas Monroy.

On request of Senator Denis, the privilege of the floor of the Senate Chamber for this day was extended to Arlene Alvarez, Alicia Blevins, Eva Marie Blevins, Carlos Hernandez, and Maggie Salas-Crespo.

On request of Senator Ford, the privilege of the floor of the Senate Chamber for this day was extended to Jessica Padron.

On request of Senator Gansert, the privilege of the floor of the Senate Chamber for this day was extended to Bryan Biggs and Bryon Hunt.

On request of Senator Hammond, the privilege of the floor of the Senate Chamber for this day was extended to Angelo Aragon.

On request of Senator Hardy, the privilege of the floor of the Senate Chamber for this day was extended to Brian Wolfgram.

On request of Senator Harris, the privilege of the floor of the Senate Chamber for this day was extended to Todd Ingalsbee.

On request of Senator Kieckhefer, the privilege of the floor of the Senate Chamber for this day was extended to Ian Satterfield.

On request of Senator Parks, the privilege of the floor of the Senate Chamber for this day was extended to Austreberto Hernandez and Aaron Ibarra.

On request of Senator Ratti, the privilege of the floor of the Senate Chamber for this day was extended to Jackeline Duron, Tom Gunn and Alejandra Hernandez-Chavez.

On request of Senator Segerblom, the privilege of the floor of the Senate Chamber for this day was extended to Sylvia Lazos.

On request of Senator Spearman, the privilege of the floor of the Senate Chamber for this day was extended to Kevin Castellanos, Jair Guigui, Noemi Guigui and Mirna Guigui.

On request of Senator Woodhouse, the privilege of the floor of the Senate Chamber for this day was extended to Alicia Contreras, Nora Luna and Cory Whitlock.

Senator Ford moved that the Senate adjourn until Tuesday, April 4, 2017, at 11:00 a.m.

Motion carried.

Senate adjourned at 12:29 p.m.

Approved:

MOISES DENIS

President pro Tempore of the Senate

Attest: CLAIRE J. CLIFT

Secretary of the Senate